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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED
(Company Registration No.201606168C)



Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) was listed on Catalist of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 16 January 2017. The initial public offering of the Company 
was sponsored by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited (the “Sponsor”).

This Annual Report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the 
Sponsor for compliance with the relevant Catalist Rules. The Sponsor has not  verified the contents of 
this Annual Report.

The Annual Report has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST. The Sponsor and SGX-ST 
assume no responsibility for the contents of this Annual Report including the accuracy, completeness or 
correctness of any of the information, statements or opinions made or reports contained in this Annual 
Report.

The contact persons for the Sponsor are Mr Alvin Soh, Head of Catalist Operations, Senior Vice 
President, and Mr Lan Kang Ming, Vice President, at 8 Anthony Road, #01-01, Singapore 229957, 
telephone (65) 6590 6881.
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LEADING HIGH PERFORMANCE AEROSOL COATING SPECIALIST FOR AUTOMOTIVE 
REFINISHING AND REFURBISHING INDUSTRY

Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (“Samurai 2K” or the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a leading 
aerosol coating specialist with a focus on high performance coating solutions for the automotive refinishing and refurbishing 
industry. We are principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and marketing of our products under our own brands.

Headquartered in Malaysia, our products are manufactured in our production facility located in Johor and are distributed 
in countries including Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Philippines, Vietnam, Cambodia, United Kingdom, United States of 
America and Singapore.

Corporate Profile

GLOBAL
MARKET

PATENTED
PRODUCTS

BREAKTHROUGH
TECHNOLOGY

WE CHANGE THE AEROSOL
AEROSOL CHANGES THE WORLD
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CEO’S STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

I am honoured to present Annual Report of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company” and 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY2018”). 

BUSINESS AND CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

During FY2018, our Group has:

i.      participated in the Specialty Equipment Market Association Show 2017, (“SEMA Show”) 
held at Las Vegas, the United States of America from 31 October  2017 to 
3 November 2017;

ii.  signed a Sales and Distribution Agreement with its distributor to grant the sole  
distributorship of the Group’s range of products in Cambodia;

iii.     bagged double awards in the Sin Chew Business Excellence Awards 2017 namely, “CIMB-Sin Chew Regional Excellence 
Award” and “Product Excellence Award”. The awards were honoured in recognition of our strong market penetration 
strategies, our ability to revolutionise the traditional spray painting works in the workshops into the DIY segment as well 
as our years of research and development in launching our innovative and disruptive products;

iv.  completed a placement of 9,921,000 shares at the issue price of S$1.008 per share on 15 December 2017; 

On 16 and 17 April 2018, the Group announced that its wholly-owned subsidiary, Orientus Industry Sdn Bhd has been 
granted the invention patent from the relevant authorities in the United States of America and Canada for its “Single Head 
2K System”.  

RESULTS HIGHLIGHT 

Our Group’s revenue increased by approximately RM50.7 million or 128.8% from RM39.3 million in the financial year ended 
31 March 2017 (“FY2017”) to RM90.0 million in FY2018. The increase in Group’s revenue was mainly due to the improvement 
in the sales volume for our key markets namely, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Vietnam and Philippines have also registered 
healthy and encouraging growth. The growth in Group revenue was attributable to aggressive marketing initiatives such as 
demonstration and training activities for potential end-users, advertisements on social media and participation in exhibitions.

With the significant increase in Group’s revenue, our Group recorded a net profit of RM11.9 million in FY2018, surpassing 
RM1.8 million recorded in FY2017 by approximately RM10.1 million, or 546.2%.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our greatest appreciation to our shareholders, valued customers and business 
associates for their continued support and confidence in our Group. I wish also to thank all our employees for their dedica-
tion, commitment and contribution to the success of the Group.

Ong Yoke En
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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OPERATIONS & FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVIEW OF INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue increased by approximately RM50.7 million or 128.8%. The increase in revenue was mainly due to (i) the increase 
in revenue from the “Paint – Standard” segment by RM 29.6 million, or 124.4% and (ii) the increase in revenue from the “Paint 
– Premium” segment by RM 20.7 million, or 144.0%. In terms of geographical segment, revenue contribution from Indonesia 
grew by RM40.0 million, or 223.5% to RM57.9 million. Revenue from Malaysia increased by RM6.5 million, or 35.9% to 
RM24.5 million while revenue from other markets (including Thailand, Vietnam, Philippines, United Kingdom and Singapore) 
increased by RM4.2 million, or 122.7% to RM7.6 million. 

The increase in revenue was mainly due to sales volume increased by 9.02 million cans or 132.6% to 15.83 million cans in 
FY2018. Higher sales volume was achieved as a result of enhanced marketing initiatives taken such as advertisements on 
social media, exhibition, demonstration and training activities for potential end-users.

Gross profit increased by RM20.91 million, or 117.7% while gross profit margin for FY2018 and FY2017 were 43.0% and 
45.1% respectively. The slight drop in the gross profit margin was mainly due to the appreciation of Ringgit Malaysia against 
Indonesian Rupiah during the financial year which has caused the export selling prices to Indonesia to be lower.

Other income/(expenses) comprised mainly of loss on foreign exchange. The Company incurred a loss on foreign exchange 
of RM4.1 million in FY2018 while a gain on foreign exchange of RM0.67 million in FY2017. The loss on foreign exchange was 
attributable to the appreciation of Ringgit Malaysia against Indonesian Rupiah.

Administrative expenses consisted of mainly directors’ remuneration, staff costs, professional fees, rental expenses and 
depreciation. The administrative cost increased by RM1.2 million, or 11.7%, mainly due to (i) the variable performance bonus 
for the Executive Directors and the increase in their salaries with effect from 1 July 2017 as per their service agreements 
dated 16 December 2016 of RM2.5 million from RM0.8 million in FY2017 to RM3.3 million in FY2018; (ii) higher salaries and 
related costs paid for supporting staff of RM1.1 million from RM2.2 million in FY2017 to RM3.3 million in FY2018 mainly due 
to increase in the number of staff; (iii) administrative and service tax expenses incurred by the subsidiaries, of RM0.8 million; 
(iv) higher professional fees and related expenses of RM0.6 million (v) increase in other miscellaneous expenses of RM0.3 
million; and (vi) offset by the absence of initial public offering related expenses of RM4.4 million incurred in FY2017.

Marketing and distribution expenses increased by RM3.7 million or 107.2%, mainly due to higher (i) salaries and commission 
paid to sales team by RM0.6 million for the higher revenue generated; and (ii) marketing cost consisting of advertisement in 
social media, exhibition, demonstration, travelling and training for potential end-users by RM3.1 million.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets increased by RM5.2 million mainly due to the increase in property, plant and equipment by RM5.3 million, 
or 48.4% as a result of acquisition of plant and machineries amounted to RM6.42 million for expansion purpose.

Current assets increased by RM46.0 million, or 146.0% mainly due to (i) increase in inventories by RM1.9 million or 29.4% 
in line with increased sales volume, (ii) increase in trade receivables by RM22.3 million due to increased sales volume and 
increase in other receivables by RM2.5 million mainly due to increase in advance payment to suppliers and goods and 
services tax receivables. 

Non-current borrowings decreased by RM0.95 million, or 18.5% was due to repayment of bank borrowings.

Current liabilities increased by RM11.0 million, or 91.5% mainly due to increase in trade payables by RM10.2 million, or 
182.5% in line with higher cost of sales and increase in the other payables by RM1.6 million, or 113.1% caused by the accrual 
of variable performance bonus for the Executive Directors amounting to RM 1.7 million (31 March 2017: NIL).

CASH FLOW STATEMENT REVIEW

In FY2018, the Group recorded net cash used in operating activities of approximately RM1.4 million, arising from operating 
cash flow before changes in working capital of RM17.0 million offset by changes in net working capital outflow of RM14.2 
million, net interest payment of approximately RM0.3 million and income tax payment of approximately RM3.9 million. The 
working capital outflow was mainly due to increase in trade and other receivables by RM24.7 million and offset by increase in 
trade and other payables by RM12.6 million.

The Group recorded a net cash outflow from investing activities of approximately RM6.3 million mainly due to the purchase of 
property, plant and equipment to expand its production.

The Group recorded a net cash inflow from financing activities of approximately RM27.3 million mainly due to proceed from 
issuance of ordinary shares of RM30.3 million. This was offset by net repayment of bank borrowings and finance leases of 
RM2.0 million and share issuance expenses of RM0.9 million. 

As at 31 March 2018, the Group maintained a cash and cash equivalents balance of RM38.1 million.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Standing from left: Mr Sia Yeak Hong, Dato’ Loh Shin Siong, Mr Hau Hock Khun and Dato’ Chang Chor Choong.
Sitting from left: Mr Lim Siang Kai, Mr Ong Yoke En and Ms Lim Lay Yong.

Mr Lim Siang Kai
Non-Executive Chairman and Lead Independent Director

Mr Lim Siang Kai was appointed to our Board on 3 October 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 2017.  Mr 
Lim has over 30 years of experience in securities, private and investment banking and fund management, having worked 
in and held various leadership roles in various banks and financial services companies since 1981.   From 1988 to 1994, 
Mr Lim was also the president of Kingvic Securities Investment Consulting Enterprise, a firm registered with the Securities 
and Futures Commission of Taiwan. Mr Lim holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and a Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) 
degree from the National University of Singapore obtained in 1980 and 1981 respectively.  He also has a Master of Arts in 
Economics from the University of Canterbury, New Zealand, which he obtained in 1983.

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•  Natural Cool Holdings Limited.

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•  ISDN Holdings Limited
•  Joyas International Holdings Limited
•  Blue Sky Power Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Ong Yoke En
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Ong Yoke En was appointed to our Board on 9 March 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 2017. He 
has more than 20 years of diverse and strong working experience in the aerosol industry holding leadership positions in 
various aerosol companies in Malaysia. Mr Ong builds and leads the senior executive team and sets the strategic direction 
of our Group. He is also actively involved in the research and development of our Group’s aerosol products and has 
achieved a major innovation in the production of our dual head 2K system which improves on the user friendliness of an 
existing technology. Mr Ong also invented our Group’s single head 2K system which was awarded a gold medal at the 
ITEX 2016 held in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia by the Malaysian Invention and Design Society. He was also awarded a Special 
Innovation Award as a recognition of the same invention by The Morroccan Union of Inventors, an affiliate of the International 
Federation of Inventors’ Associations at Toronto 2016. Mr Ong graduated from the Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia with a 
Bachelor of Arts in 1993.
 
Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•   None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•   None

Ms Lim Lay Yong
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer

Ms Lim Lay Yong was appointed to our Board on 3 October 2016 was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 2017.  Ms Lim 
has a diverse and strong working experience having served in various capacities for more than 20 years in marketing and 
product manufacturing. In 2001 to 2014, Ms Lim gained extensive customer relations and marketing experience in her roles 
of planning marketing activities including organising roadshows for the Group’s aerosol products. As the COO of our Group, 
Ms Lim oversees the daily operations of our Group, helps in designing and implementing business strategies, plans and 
procedures, as well as establishing  policies that promote our Company’s culture and vision, and managing relationships 
with  vendors. Ms Lim graduated from the Simon Fraser University (Canada) with a  Bachelor of Science (Biochemistry) in 
1994 and obtained a Graduate Diploma in Health Science (Herbal Medicine) from The University of New England (Australia) 
in 2007.

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•  None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•  None

Dato’ Loh Shin Siong
Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Loh Shin Siong was appointed to the Board on 16 December 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 
2017. He has business interests in various industries such as food and beverage and property development. Dato’ Loh holds 
directorship in a few companies in which he is in charge of the overall business development and operations and formulates 
strategies to continually raise the standards of quality and service. Dato’ Loh is also responsible for the management and 
operations in a real estate company and gained experience in property investment and development.

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•   None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•   None
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dato’ Chang Chor Choong
Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Chang Chor Choong was appointed to the Board on 16 December 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 
2017. Dato’ Chang is currently a director at various private companies engaged in businesses across a range of industries 
including telecommunications, beverages and real estate development. Over years, he has gained experience in the overall 
management of companies and in setting directions and implementing various business strategies. Outside of his business 
commitments, Dato’ Chang has been an advisor of Ku-Miau Temple since 2012.

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•   None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•   None

Mr Hau Hock Khun
Independent Director 

Mr Hau Hock Khun was appointed to our Board on 16 December 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 2017. 
Mr Hau has more than 17 years of experience in the legal industry and his practice focuses on, amongst others, banking and 
finance law, Islamic banking law, general corporate and commercial law, company law, conveyancing and land law, probate 
and administration law and intellectual property law in Malaysia. Mr Hau is currently an executive director in charge of overall 
management and operations in a number of private companies.  Mr Hau is a member of the Bar Council of Malaysia, a 
member of the Malaysia Mediation Centre and an associate member of the U.K. Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (United 
Kingdom) in 2009.  Mr Hau graduated from Bond University, Australia with a Bachelor of Law in 1997. He later obtained a 
Master of Business Administration (Total Quality Management) from Newport University, USA.

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•   None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•   Kumpulan H & L High – Tech Berhad 

Mr Sia Yeak Hong
Independent Director

Mr Sia Yeak Hong was appointed to our Board on 16 December 2016 and was last re-elected as Director on 20 July 2017. 
Mr Sia is currently an audit principal at BDO Chartered Accountants in Malaysia, where he leads the audit team in the 
conduct of the assigned audit by planning, directing and coordinating audit activities. During his tenure with a few audit firms, 
Mr Sia was involved in statutory financial audit, financial due diligence, member’s voluntary liquidation as well as cross-
border financial reporting for various countries. His sector expertise includes manufacturing, plantation, hospitality, trading 
and property development and construction. In his senior management role in the private sector, he oversaw the financial, 
operation and internal control operating units of the group. Mr Sia is currently a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysia 
Institute of Accountants, a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in Malaysia. Mr Sia graduated from Middlesex University (United Kingdom) 
with a Bachelor of Arts (Accounting & Finance).

Past directorships in listed companies (for last three years)
•   None

Present directorships in listed companies (other than the Company)
•   None
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KEY MANAGEMENT

From left: Ms Lee Siong Kim, Mr Voon Kian Woon, Mr Soo Choon Siong and Ms Puah Thye Lay

Mr Soo Choon Siong
Chief Financial Officer
Mr Soo Choon Siong joined our Group in August 2017. Mr Soo is a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered Accountants 
Australia & New Zealand and the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He held various senior positions in both the 
professional sector and in the commercial sector as financial controller and finance director in various industries including 
biopharmaceutical, automotive leather and ceramic tile industries where he oversaw financial matters such as finance and 
treasury planning, financial risk management and investor relations. As our Group’s Chief Financial Officer, Mr Soo is overall 
in charge of the finance department and reports to our CEO. Mr Soo graduated from Otago University, New Zealand in 1996 
with a Bachelor of Commerce.

Mr Voon Kian Woon
General Manager (Finance)
Mr Voon Kian Woon joined our Group in September 2014. Mr Voon started his own book keeping business in 2012 where 
he provided bookkeeping services to small businesses in Malaysia. In our Group, Mr Voon is in charge of, amongst others, 
preparing financial statements, business activity reports and forecasts. Mr Voon also supervises the accounting team 
and assists the management in making financial decisions. Mr Voon is currently an affiliate member of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”). He passed the professional level of the ACCA examinations in 2010. Mr Voon 
obtained a Bachelor of Science with First Class Honours in Applied Accounting from Oxford Brookes University in 2010.

Ms Lee Siong Kim
General Manager (Indonesia)
Ms Lee Siong Kim joined our Group in 2011. Ms Lee has more than 10 years of experience in sales and marketing.  She 
was a marketing manager at a company engaged in furniture business, where she was involved in the expansion and 
development of the business and marketing strategies of the company. Currently, Ms Lee is responsible for overseas 
business development of Orientus Industry Sdn. Bhd. as well as the overall business operations and sales performance of 
PT Samurai Paint.

Ms Puah Thye Lay
Sales Director
Ms Puah Thye Lay joined our Group in 2009. Ms Puah has approximately 20 years of sales experience. Ms Puah worked in 
a few fast-moving consumer goods companies where she led a team of salesmen and merchandisers and assisted in the 
expansion of the business. As Sales Director, Ms Puah is in charge of the sales department and is currently involved in the 
training of our Group’s sales team in a few countries.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr Lim Siang Kai
(Non-Executive Chairman and Lead Independent 
Director)
Mr Ong Yoke En
(Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms Lim Lay Yong
(Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer)
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong 
(Non-Executive Director) 
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong 
(Non-Executive Director)
Mr Hau Hock Khun 
(Independent Director) 
Mr Sia Yeak Hong 
(Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr Lim Siang Kai (Chairman)
Mr Hau Hock Khun
Mr Sia Yeak Hong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
Mr Hau Hock Khun (Chairman)
Mr Lim Siang Kai
Mr Sia Yeak Hong

NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
Mr Sia Yeak Hong (Chairman) 
Mr Hau Hock Khun
Mr Lim Siang Kai

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr Tan Chee How (FCIS)

REGISTERED OFFICE
36A Hongkong Street
Holy Building
Singapore 059675

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS 
MALAYSIA
4 Jalan Dato’ Yunus 1
Taman Perindustrian Dato Yunus Sulaiman
Lima Kedai
81120 Skudai, Johor, Malaysia

INDONESIA
Jl. Sunter Mas Utara, Blok H1 No 17W
RT 021 RW 008, Sunter Jaya Sub-District, 
Tanjung Priok District, North Jakarta
14350 Indonesia

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
627, Montrose Avenue
South Plainfield
New Jersey 07080
United States of America

CONTINUING SPONSOR
UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED
8 Anthony Road
#01-01
Singapore 229957

AUDITORS
BAKER TILLY TFW LLP
600 North Bridge Road
#05-01
Parkview Square
Singapore 188778

Partner-in-charge:  Ms Guo Shuqi (a member of the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants)
(Date of appointment:  since financial year ended 31 
March 2016)

SHARE REGISTRAR 
BOARDROOM CORPORATE & ADVISORY 
SERVICES PTE LTD
50 Raffles Place
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

PRINCIPAL BANKER
OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION 
LIMITED
65 Chulia Street OCBC Centre 
Singapore 049513
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The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the 
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 March 2018.

In the opinion of the directors:

(i)      the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 46 to 89 are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2018 and of the 
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended 
and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore; and

(ii)      at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Ong Yoke En	                                               (First director)
Lim Lay Yong
Lim Siang Kai
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong
Hau Hock Khun 
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong 
Sia Yeak Hong 

Arrangement to enable directors to acquire benefits

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interest in shares or debentures 

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the shares or 
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings 
kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Act except as follows:

		

The Company		
Ong Yoke En	                                                                                                      50,384,000     50,384,000
Lim Lay Yong	                                                                                                      15,000,000     15,000,000
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong	                                                                              4,250,000       4,250,000
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong	                                                                                           4,250,000       4,250,000

Number of ordinary shares
Shareholdings registered in

the name of directors
    At 	                At
1.4.2017        31.3.2018

dIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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Directors’ interest in shares or debentures (cont’d)

The director, Ong Yoke En, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act is deemed to have an interest in the 
shares held by the Company in its wholly-owned subsidiary corporations and in the shares held by the Company 
in the following subsidiary not wholly owned by the Group:

	Number of ordinary shares
			 

PT Samurai Paint	                                                                                             2,010	            2,010

The directors’ interest in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 April 2018 were the same as those as at 
31 March 2018.

Share options

The Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited’s Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and Performance Share 
Plan (the “Plan”) were approved and adopted by the members at the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 December 
2016.

The Scheme and Plan are administered by the Remuneration Committee of the Company, comprising of Mr Hau 
Hock Khun, Mr Lim Siang Kai and Mr Sia Yeak Hong. A member of our Remuneration Committee who is also 
a participant of the Scheme and Plan must not be involved in its deliberation in respect of options and awards 
granted or to be granted to him. 

a)	 Options to take up unissued shares

During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any other corporation 
in the Group were granted.

b)	 Options exercised

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any other corporation in the Group 
issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

c)	 Unissued shares under option

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any other corporation 
in the Group under option.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

Lim Siang Kai (Chairman)
Hau Hock Khun
Sia Yeak Hong
 

    At 	                At
1.4.2017        31.3.2018

dIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Act. Their functions are 
detailed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee also:

(a)	 reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditor;	

(b)	 reviewed the audit plan and scope of work carried out by the external auditor and also met with the 
external auditor to discuss the results of their audit and their evaluation of the system of internal 
accounting controls; 

(c)	 reviewed the overall scope and timing of the work to be carried out by the internal auditors and also met 
with internal auditors to discuss the results of their internal audit procedures;

(d)	 reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018 and the independent auditor’s report thereon; and

(e)	 reviewed interested person transactions.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor and has 
recommended to the Board that Baker Tilly TFW LLP be nominated for re-appointment as independent auditor 
of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, Baker Tilly TFW LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Ong Yoke En	                                                     L im Lay Yong
Director                                                                 Director

26 June 2018 

dIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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independent auditor’s report
TO THE MEMBERS OF SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited  (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), as set out on pages 46 to 89, which comprise the statements of financial position 
of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial 
position of the Company as at 31 March 2018 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated 
changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the changes in equity of the Company for 
the financial year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

1   Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment of trade receivables is considered a key audit matter as it requires the application of significant 
estimates and assumptions by management and due to the significance of the asset to the Group’s total 
assets.

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables amount to RM25,147,000 (2017: RM2,887,000) which represents 
approximately 27% (2017: 7%) of the Group’s total assets. Trade receivables comprise one debtor that 
represents approximately 74% of the total trade receivables balance. Trade receivables are stated at 
amortised cost less any allowance for doubtful receivables.

The Group tests impairment of trade receivables using the aging of the receivables, historical collection trends, 
the Group’s past experience of loss and current economic trends which involve significant management 
estimates. 

The credit risk and aging of the trade receivables are as disclosed in Note 23(b) to the financial statements.

Our procedures to address the key audit matter

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policy and credit assessment procedures. We also 
assessed the reliability and accuracy of the trade receivables aging report. We evaluated management’s 
assessment of the recoverability of the Group’s major trade receivable balances and material trade 
receivables which are past due at the end of the reporting period.
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independent auditor’s report
TO THE MEMBERS OF SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

1   Impairment of trade receivables (cont’d)

Our procedures to address the key audit matter (con’t)

For these receivable balances, we obtained evidence of receipts subsequent to the balance sheet date 
and discussed with management on the collectability of receivables without subsequent collection. We 
corroborated the reasons for the delay in payments and assessed any allowance for doubtful receivables to 
be made by considering amongst others, factors such as past payment practices and the ongoing business 
relationship with the debtors. We selected samples to circulate trade receivables confirmation including the 
major trade receivable balance and received reply to our confirmation request directly from the debtor.

We have also assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial 
statements.

2   Impairment review of investment in subsidiaries

As disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the carrying amount of the investment in subsidiaries on 
the Company’s balance sheet is RM10,451,000 (2017: RM12,650,000) which is net of impairment losses of 
RM1,546,000 (2017: RM200,000) as at 31 March 2018.

Where there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable, management has performed 
impairment assessments and where relevant, computed the value in use. The value in use calculations 
involve management’s assessment of future cash flow projections of the business, and the appropriate 
terminal growth rates and discount rates applied to the future cash flow projections. 

We focused on this area due to the significance of the assets to the Company’s balance sheet as well as the 
significant estimates and assumptions involved in management’s assessment of the value in use. 

Our procedures to address the key audit matter

Our procedures included procedures to identify impairment indicators for the investments. We obtained 
management’s value in use calculation and assessed the key estimates applied by comparing the cash 
flow projections to historical data, management’s strategic plans for the entity and existing contracts. We 
performed look-backward analysis to compare current year actual results to prior year forecast to assess the 
reasonableness of the estimates made. We assessed the sensitivity of the key estimates on the impairment 
assessments, based on reasonably possible changes in the key estimates. We involved our valuation 
specialists in assessing the discount rate used. 

We have also assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial 
statements. 

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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independent auditor’s report

TO THE MEMBERS OF SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use 
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•    Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud  or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•     Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

•     Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates   
and related disclosures made by management.

•   Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•       Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•    Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.
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independent auditor’s report
TO THE MEMBERS OF SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Guo Shuqi.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

26 June 2018
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018 
 
 
  2018 2017 
 Note RM’000 RM’000 
 
Revenue 4 90,014 39,350  
Cost of sales  (51,341) (21,585)  
     
Gross profit  38,673 17,765  
     
Other (expenses)/income 5 (3,787) 833  
Administrative expenses  (11,550) (10,342)  
Marketing and distribution expenses  (7,214) (3,481)  
Finance costs 6 (487) (490)  
     
Profit before tax 7 15,635 4,285  
     
Tax expense 9 (3,726) (2,442)  
     
Profit for the year  11,909 1,843  
     
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:      
Item that may be reclassified 
  subsequently to profit or loss:     
Currency translation differences arising 
  from consolidation  (146) 171  
     
Total comprehensive income for the year   11,763 2,014  
     
Profit/(loss) attributable to:      
Equity holders of the Company  11,703 2,221  
Non-controlling interest  206 (378)  
     
Profit for the year  11,909 1,843  
     
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable 
to:     
Equity holders of the Company  11,567 2,368  
Non-controlling interest  196 (354)  
     
  11,763 2,014  
     
Earnings per share for profit attributable to 
  equity holders of the Company (RM sen per  
  share)     
Basic and diluted 10 11.4 2.2  
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

	                                                                                     Group	                            Company
		                                                                 2018	    2017	                        2018	 2017
	                                                          Note	         RM’000	  RM’000     	         RM’000   RM’000
Non-current assets						    
Property, plant and equipment	                    11	            16,117	   10,859	                   –	         –	
Intangible assets	                                 12	                 168	          18	                   –	         –	
Investment in subsidiaries	                    13	                    –	            –	           10,451    12,650	
Other receivables	                                 14	                    –	         261	                   –	         –	
Deferred tax assets	                                 15	                   74	          45	                   –	         –	
		
Total non-current assets		                          16,359	    11,183	           10,451    12,650	
		

Current assets						   
Inventories	                                              16	             8,263	      6,388	                   –	         –	
Trade and other receivables	                    14	           29,925	      5,188	          20,170	     342	
Cash and bank balances	                    17	           39,290	    19,922	          28,454	  8,576	
		
Total current assets		                                      77,478	    31,498	           48,624	  8,918	
		
Total assets		                                                   93,837	    42,681	          59,075     21,568	
		
Non-current liabilities						    
Borrowings	                                              18	             4,178	      5,128	                   –	         –	
Deferred tax liabilities	                                 15	                483	         591	                   –	         –	
Other payables	                                              19	                272	         176	                   –	         –	
		
Total non-current liabilities		                           4,933	      5,895	                   –	         –	
		
Current liabilities						    
Trade and other payables	                    19	            18,843	     7,020	            2,445	  3,220	
Borrowings 	                                              18	              3,631	     4,668	                   –	         –	
Tax payable		                                                        522	        319	                   –	         –	
		
Total current liabilities		                                     22,996	   12,007	            2,445	  3,220	
		
Total liabilities		                                                  27,929	   17,902	            2,445	  3,220	
		
Net assets		                                                   65,908	   24,779	          56,630	 18,348	
		
			 
Equity	 					   
Share capital	                                               20 	          52,653	   23,287	          52,653     23,287	
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)		           23,540	   12,585	            3,977     (4,939)	
Currency translation reserve		                                54	        290	                   –	         –	
Merger reserve	                                               21	          (10,497)	  (11,345)	                   –	         –	
		
Equity attributable to equity 
holders of the Company		                                     65,750	   24,817	          56,630     18,348	
Non-controlling interest		                                           158	         (38)	                   –	         –	
		
Total equity		                                                   65,908	   24,779	          56,630     18,348	
		
			 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

At 31 March 2018
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
				  

                                                                                        Currency                                                Non-
	                              Share            Retained        translation      Merger                         controlling        Total
	                             capital            earnings         reserve          reserve         Total 	       interest        equity
		                 RM’000            RM’000           RM’000          RM’000       RM’000      RM’000        RM’000
Group								      
	 							     
Balance at 1 April 2017	    23,287             12,585	              290	        (11,345)        24,817           (38)         24,779
		   
Profit for the year	            –              11,703                   –	                  –         11,703	           206          11,909
Other comprehensive
 loss for the year								      
Currency translation
differences arising from 
consolidation		             –  	          –               (136)	                  –            (136)           (10)            (146)

								          
Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for 
the year		             –	  11,703	             (136)	                  –         11,567	           196          11,763

								      
Issuance of ordinary 
shares pursuant to share
placement		    30,258	           –	                  –	                  –         30,258	   –          30,258
Capitalisation of share 
issuance expenses             (892)	           –	                  –	                  –            (892)	   –             (892)
								      
Strike off of subsidiary	           –                  (748)	             (100)	              848	            –	   –                  –
		
Balance at 31 March 
2018		                 52,653	              23,540                 54	       (10,497)        65,750	           158           65,908
		
					   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018

				  

                                                                                            Currency                                                   Non-
		                         Share         Retained       translation      Merger	                         controlling         Total
		                        capital        earnings	    reserve        reserve          Total           interest          equity
		                        RM’000        RM’000	    RM’000        RM’000	       RM’000         RM’000         RM’000
Group				      				  
								      
Balance at 1 April 2016             1,336	      10,390	         159	        –	       11,885                   –             11,885
		
Profit/(loss) for the year	                   –             2,221	             –	        –	         2,221	      (378)             1,843
Other comprehensive 

income for the year								      
Currency translation 

differences arising from 
consolidation		                    –	              –	         147	        –	            147	          24                 171

								      
Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
year		                                 –	        2,221	         147	        –	         2,368	      (354)             2,014		
						    

Issuance of ordinary 
shares pursuant to the 
Restructuring Exercise	         12,407                   –	             –	        –	       12,407	           –            12,407

Adjustments pursuant    
to the Restructuring
Exercise		            (1,336)	              –	               –       (11,345)       (12,681)               274          (12,407)
Issuance of ordinary   
shares pursuant to  
initial public offering	          12,407	              –	             –	        –	       12,407	           –            12,407

Capitalisation of share
issuance expenses	           (1,527)	              –	             –	        –	       (1,527)	           –             (1,527)

								      
Change in ownership

interest in a subsidiary		
Change in ownership 

interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in loss
of control		                    –	           (26)	          (16)	        –	            (42)	         42	                    –

								      
Total changes in ownership 

interest in a subsidiary	                  –                (26)	          (16)	        –	            (42)	         42	                    –
		      
Balance at 31 March 

2017	                                    23,287	     12,585	         290         (11,345)	       24,817	        (38)           24,779
		
					   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 For the financial year ended 31 March 2018

			                                                                           
                                                                                                                       (Accumulated	
		                                                               Share	                      losses)/	               Total
		                                                              capital	             Retained earnings         equity
		                                                              RM’000	                      RM’000	              RM’000

Company					   
					   
Balance at 1 April 2017		                                      23,287	                      (4,939)	             18,348	
Profit for the financial year		                                 –	                       8,916	               8,916	  
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to
share placement		                                      30,258	                              –	             30,258	

Capitalisation of share issuance expenses		   (892)	                              –	                (892)	
		
Balance at 31 March 2018		                         52,653	                       3,977	             56,630	
		
		
Issuance of shares on 9 March 2016
(date of incorporation)		                                             –*	                              –	                    –*	

Loss for the period		                                             –	                      (4,939)	             (4,939)	
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to
the Restructuring Exercise		                         12,407	                              –	             12,407	

Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to
initial public offering		                                      12,407	                              –	            12,407	

Capitalisation of share issuance expenses	            (1,527)	                              –	             (1,527)	
		
		
Balance at 31 March 2017		                         23,287	                      (4,939)	             18,348	
		
		
*  Less than RM1,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
	

                                                                                                                                  2018                2017
	                                                                                                                    RM’000	          RM’000
Cash flows from operating activities			 
Profit before tax 	                                                                                           15,635	             4,285	
			 
Adjustments for:			 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	                                                      1,090	                761	
Amortisation of intangible asset	                                                                                       5	                    5	
Property, plant and equipment written off	                                                                       13	                  24	
Interest expenses	                                                                                                484	                490	
Interest income	                                                                                                           (175)	               (69)	
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	                                             (11)	                    –	
Initial public offering related expenses	                                                                          –	             4,399	
	
Operating cash flows before working capital change	                                       17,041	             9,895	
			 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 			 
Inventories	                                                                                                        (1,932)	           (1,014)	
Receivables	                                                                                                      (24,668)	             2,101	
Payables	                                                                                                        12,645	           (3,552)	
Currency translation adjustments	                                                                    (239)	                  26	
	
Cash generated from operations                                                                               2,847	             7,456	
			 
Income tax paid 	                                                                                            (3,900)	          (1,924)	
Interest income	                                                                                                            175	                  69	
Interest expenses	                                                                                               (484)	             (490)	
	
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	                           (1,362)	              5,111	
	
Cash flows  from investing activities			 
Purchase of intangible asset	                                                                                 (155)	                   –	
Deposit for purchase of property, plant and equipment	                                                –	              (254)	
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment                                             25	                   –	
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	                                                    (6,166)	           (5,852)	
	
Net cash used in investing activities	                                                                 (6,296)	           (6,106)

Cash flows from financing activities			 
(Increase)/decrease in fixed deposits pledged	                                                         (39)	                241	
Proceed from issuance of ordinary shares	                                                    30,258	           12,407	
Payment of initial public offering related expenses	                                                –	           (5,926)	
Repayment of obligations under finance lease	                                                       (129)	              (145)	  
Proceeds from bank borrowings	                                                                                      –              4,813	
Repayment of bank borrowings	                                                                              (1,858)	              (576)	
Share issuance expenses	                                                                                 (892)	                    –	
	  
Net cash generated from financing activities	                                                    27,340	           10,814	
	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	                                                    19,682	             9,819

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year	                          18,739	             8,767	
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	                             (353)	                153	
	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year (Note 17)	             38,068	           18,739	
	
	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements.

1   Corporate information

Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) (Co. Reg. No. 201606168C) is incorporated as a private limited 
company and domiciled in Singapore on 9 March 2016. It was converted into a public company limited by 
shares on 16 December 2016 and is listed on the Catalist board of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). 

The registered office of the Company is at 36A, Hongkong Street, Holy Building, Singapore 059675. The 
principal place of business of  the Company is located at No. 4,  Jalan Dato Yunus 1, Kawasan Perindustrian 
Dato Yunus Sulaiman, Lima Kedai, 81120 Skudai, Johor, Malaysia. 

The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13.

2   Summary of significant accounting policies 

a)  Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Malaysia Ringgit and are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(RM’000) except when otherwise indicated.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”). The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the use of estimates and assumption 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions and historical experiences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

Use of estimates and judgements

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement in applying accounting policies, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustment within the next financial year are 
disclosed in Note 3.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other current receivables and payables 
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

a)  Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards

In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of 
FRSs  (“INT FRSs”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current financial year. Changes to 
the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provision 
in the respective FRSs and INT FRSs.

From 1 April 2017, as a result of the amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure Initiative), 
the Group has provided additional disclosure in relation to changes in liabilities from financing activities for 
the current financial year (Note 18).

The adoption of these new/revised FRS and INT FRS did not have any material effect on the financial results 
or position of the Group and the Company.

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued at the end of the 
reporting period but are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 have not been applied in 
preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial 
statements of the Group and the Company, except as disclosed as follow:

Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”) announced that Singapore incorporated companies listed on the 
Singapore Exchange (“SGX”) or are in the process of issuing equity or debt instruments for trading on SGX, 
will apply a new financial reporting framework identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS Convergence), known as Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”), with 
effect from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group’s financial statements for the financial year ending 31 March 2019 will be prepared in accordance 
with SFRS(I) issued by ASC. These financial statements will be the last set of financial statements prepared 
under the current FRS in Singapore.

In adopting the new framework, the Group will be required to apply the specific transition requirements in 
SFRS(I) 1 First-time Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International). In addition to the 
adoption of the new framework, the Group will be adopting other new SFRS(I), amendments to standards 
and interpretations of SFRS(I) which are effective from the same date.

The Group does not expect the application of the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations, 
and the IFRS Convergence to have significant impact on the financial statements except as set out below:

Application of SFRS(I) 1 and IFRS Convergence

When the Group adopts SFRS(I) in its 2019 financial statements, the Group will apply SFRS(I) 1 with 1 April 
2017 as the date of transition for the Group and the Company.

SFRS(I) 1 generally requires that the Group applies SFRS(I) on a retrospective basis, subject to certain 
mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under SFRS(I) 1. The Group plans to elect relevant optional 
exemptions. Except as described below, the Group does not expect the application of the mandatory 
exceptions and the optional exemptions in SFRS(I) 1 to have any significant impact on the financial 
statements.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

a)  Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) (cont’d)

Application of SFRS(I) 1 and IFRS Convergence (cont’d)

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The Group plans to elect the optional exemption to reset its cumulative foreign currency translation reserve 
for all foreign operations to nil at the date of transition on 1 April 2017. As a result, the foreign currency 
translation reserve of RM290,000, determined in accordance with FRSs as at 1 April 2017 will be reclassified 
to retained earnings as at 1 April 2017.

Subsequent to the date of transition, any gain or loss on disposal of any foreign operations will exclude 
translation differences that arose before the date of transition.

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

SFRS(I) 15 replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and other revenue-related 
interpretations. It applies to all contracts with customers, except for leases, financial instruments, insurance 
contracts and certain guarantee contracts and non-monetary exchange contracts. SFRS(I) 15 provides a 
single, principle-based model to be applied to all contracts with customers. An entity recognises revenue in 
accordance with the core principle in SFRS(I) 15 by applying a 5-step approach.

Under SFRS(I) 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. SFRS(I) 15 includes disclosure requirements that will result in disclosure of comprehensive 
information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the 
entity’s contracts with customers. 

The Group plans to adopt SFRS(I) 15 in its financial statements for the financial year ending 31 March 2019 
using the full retrospective approach. As a result, the Group will apply the changes in accounting policies 
retrospectively to each reporting year presented.

Management has performed a preliminary impact assessment of applying the new standard on the Group’s 
financial statements and has identified the following areas that are likely to be affected.

The Group plans to use the practical expedients for completed contracts. This means that completed 
contracts that began and ended in the same comparative reporting period, as well as completed contracts at 
the beginning of the earliest period presented, are not restated.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

a)  Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (cont’d)

Variable consideration

The Group currently recognises revenue from sale of goods at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. If revenue cannot be estimated reliably, 
the Group defers revenue recognition until the uncertainty is resolved. Such provisions for returns, trade 
discounts and volume rebates in the Group’s contracts with customers give rise to variable considerations 
under SFRS(I) 15 which will be required to be estimated at contract inception. Revenue is only recognised to 
the extent that it is highly probable that there will be no significant reversal when the uncertainty is resolved.

Upon the adoption of SFRS(I) 15, the Group expects to record an adjustment to reduce revenue for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2018 by RM543,000, with a corresponding increase in contract liability on the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018.

The Group plans to adopt the new standard when it becomes effective in financial year ending 31 March 
2019. The Group is finalising its assessment and quantification of the impact and of the transition adjustments 
on its financial statements.

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments

SFRS(I) 9 which replaces IAS 39, includes guidance on (i) the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities; (ii) impairment requirements for financial assets; and (iii) general hedge 
accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in SFRS(I) 9 are based on an 
expected credit loss model and replace IAS 39 incurred loss model.

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date without restating prior periods’ 
information and recognises any differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
resulting from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 at the date of initial application in the opening retained earnings and 
reserves as at 1 April 2018.

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect a significant change to the measurement basis arising from adopting the 
new classification and measurement model under SFRS(I) 9. Loans and receivables that are currently 
accounted for at amortised cost are expected to continue to be measured at amortised cost.

(b) Impairment

SFRS(I) 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its loans and trade receivables, 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach and record lifetime 
expected losses on all trade receivables. The Group does not expect a significant impact on the 
impairment allowance for its trade receivables for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

The Group will adopt SFRS(I) 9 when it becomes effective in financial year ending 31 March 2019. 
The Group is currently finalising the computation of the impact and the quantum of the final transition 
adjustments, which may be different upon finalisation.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

a)  Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

SFRS(I) 16 replaces the existing IAS 17: Leases. It reforms lessee accounting by introducing a single lessee 
accounting model. Lessees are required to recognise all leases on their statement of financial position to 
reflect their rights to use leased assets (a “right-of-use” asset) and the associated obligations for lease 
payments (a lease liability), with limited exemptions for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases 
of low value items. In addition, the nature of expenses related to those leases will change as SFRS(I) 16 
replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with depreciation charge of right-of-use asset and interest 
expense on lease liability. The accounting for lessors will not change significantly.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Group will assess the 
potential impact of SFRS(I) 16 and plans to adopt the standard on the required effective date.

b)  Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
at the end of the reporting period. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full. 
Profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory 
and property, plant and equipment, are eliminated in full.

Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling 
of interest method. Under this method, the Company has been treated as the holding company of the 
subsidiaries as if the combination had occurred from the date the subsidiaries first came under the control 
of the same shareholders. Accordingly, the results of the Group include the results of the subsidiaries for the 
entire periods under review. Such manner of presentation reflects the economic substance of the companies, 
which were under common control throughout the relevant period, as a single economic enterprise, although 
the legal parent-subsidiary relationships were not established.

Pursuant to this:
- Assets and liabilities are reflected at their existing carrying amounts;
- No adjustments are made to reflect the fair values on the date of combination or recognise any new assets   
or liabilities;

- No additional goodwill is recognised as a result of the combination;
- Prior to the issue of shares by the Company, the aggregate equity of the subsidiaries held directly by the  
Company is shown as the Group’s equity for financial years under review; and

- Upon the completion of the group restructuring exercise, any difference between the consideration paid by 
the Company and the equity ‘acquired’ is reflected within the equity of the Group as merger reserve.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

b)  Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

All other business combinations are accounted for using acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair 
value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date.

Any excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree (if any), over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former and the measurement of all amounts 
has been reviewed, the excess is recognised as gain from bargain purchase in profit or loss on the date of 
acquisition.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary 
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. 
They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. Total comprehensive income is attributed 
to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

For non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, the Group elects on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis whether to measure them at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets, at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at 
acquisition date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The 
carrying amount of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest 
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributable to owners of the Company.

When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the 
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill, non-controlling interest and 
other components of equity related to the subsidiary are derecognised. Amounts recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to 
retained earnings if required by a specific FRS.

Any retained equity interest in the previous subsidiary is remeasured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date control is lost, and its 
fair value is recognised in profit or loss.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

c)   Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. On disposal of the investments, the difference between disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

d)   Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that 
is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow 
to the Group and its cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced component is 
derecognised.

On disposal of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its 
carrying amount is taken to profit or loss.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. Depreciation for other items of property, plant and equipment is 
calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the depreciable amounts of other property, plant and equipment 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

	                                                           Years
Freehold properties	                                   50
Furniture, fittings and equipment	       4 - 12
Motor vehicles	                                 8 - 10
Plant and machinery	                                  8
Renovation	                                               10

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for production are carried at cost, less any recognised 
impairment loss until construction is completed. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Depreciation of these assets, 
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

e)  Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software. Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer 
software beyond its original specifications and which can be reliably measured, is recognised as a capital 
improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life 
of 5 years.

f)   Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount 
of any previous revaluation.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A previously recognised impairment loss for an asset is 
only reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

g)  Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets according to the nature of the assets and purpose for which the 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
The Group’s only financial assets are loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except those maturing later than 12 months 
after the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are classified 
within “trade and other receivables” (excluding advance payment to suppliers, prepayments, net goods and 
services tax receivables and tax recoverable) and “cash and bank balances” on the statement of financial 
position.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

g)   Financial assets (cont’d)

Initial measurement

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the receivable is 
impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account, and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. The allowance amount is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit 
or loss.

If in subsequent periods, the impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversed date.

h)   Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
change in value and excludes pledged deposits.

i)   Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted 
average basis. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and 
related production overheads based on normal operating capacity but excludes borrowing costs. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 
and selling expenses.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

j)    Financial liabilities
	

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and borrowings. Financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instruments. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation process.

k)   Provisions for other liabilities
		
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle that obligation and 
that the amount can be estimated reliably. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Where the effect of the time 
value of money is material, the amount of the provision shall be discounted to present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and risks specific to 
the obligation.

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost in profit or loss. 

l)    Share capital 

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

m)  Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods, net of 
goods and services tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will 
flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the Group has delivered the goods to the customer and 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been passed to the customer.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Rental income

Rental income from operating lease (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

n)  Leases

When a Group entity is the lessee:

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of 
the lease at the lower of fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Each lease payment is allocated between reduction of the outstanding liability and finance charges. The 
corresponding lease liabilities, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings. The finance charge is 
taken to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The asset acquired under finance leases are depreciated 
over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are taken to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Contingent 
rent, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period expires, any payment required to be made 
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

When a Group entity is the lessor:

Operating leases

Leases where the Group entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

o)  Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions 
into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and the Employees’ Provident Fund in 
Malaysia, and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions once the contributions 
have been paid. Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related service is performed.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

p)  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

q)  Income taxes

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax 
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, 
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity in which the tax is also recognised outside profit 
or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively).

Current tax is the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable income for the current year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable 
or recoverable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on currently enacted or substantively enacted tax rates 
at the end of the reporting period.

r)   Functional and foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which that entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial 
statements of the Group and the Company are presented in Malaysia Ringgit (“RM”), which is the Company’s 
functional currency.
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2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

r)   Functional and foreign currencies (cont’d)

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
in profit or loss, except for currency translation differences on net investment in foreign operations and 
borrowings and other currency instruments qualifying as net investment hedges for foreign operations, 
which are included in the currency translation reserve within equity in the consolidated financial statements. 
The currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the 
foreign operation.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair values are determined.

Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The financial performance and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency 
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the Group’s presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the end of the reporting period;
(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable 

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in currency translation reserve within equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
operations (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), 
and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to 
the foreign currency translation reserve within the equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

On disposal of a foreign group entity, the cumulative amount of the currency translation reserve relating to 
that particular foreign entity is reclassified from equity and recognised in profit or loss when the gain or loss 
on disposal is recognised.

s)   Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with 
other components of the Group. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for making decisions about allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.
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3   Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management 
has made the following judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements or that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and 
default or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment allowance is made for doubtful trade 
receivables for the estimated losses. Management assesses the aging of the receivables, historical collection 
trends, the Group’s past experience of loss and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy 
of the allowance for doubtful trade receivables. The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables is 
disclosed in Note 14. If the present value of estimated future cash flows differ from management’s estimates, 
the Group’s allowance for trade receivables and trade receivables balance at the end of the reporting period 
will be affected accordingly. 

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there are any indicators of impairment 
for investment in subsidiaries. Investment in subsidiaries are tested for impairment when there are indicators 
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying amount of the 
investment exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management is required to estimate the expected future 
cash flow from the business and a suitable growth rate and discount rate, in order to determine the present 
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of investment in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 13.

Write down of inventories

Where necessary, inventories are written down to net realisable value for estimated losses where the cost of 
inventories may not be recoverable. The Group estimates the write down based upon a detailed analysis of 
the ages of the inventories, product demand, anticipated selling prices and usability of the raw materials and 
packaging materials. Adjustments to the carrying amount of inventories may be made in future periods in the 
event that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable resulting from future loss events.

The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 16.
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3   Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, judgement is 
required by management to determine the primary economic environment in which the entities operate, the 
entities’ process of determining sales prices and the currency of the country whose competitive forces and 
regulations mainly influences the prices of its goods and services. Management has assessed that prices are 
mainly denominated and settled in the respective local currency of the entities of the Group. In addition, most 
of the entities’ cost base is mainly denominated in their respective local currency. Therefore, management 
concluded that the functional currency of the entities of the Group is their respective local currency.

In view of the financial reliance of the Company on the operations of its major subsidiary in Malaysia, the 
management determined that RM is the functional currency of the Company.

Income taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, the amount and timing of 
future taxable income and deductibility of certain expenditure. Accordingly, there are certain transactions and 
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on reasonable estimates of whether additional 
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is concluded and is different from the amounts 
that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 

The carrying amounts of tax payable is presented on the statements of financial position, and tax recoverable, 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are disclosed in Notes 14 and 15 respectively.

4   Revenue
	                                                                                                                                             Group
	                                                                                                                                      2018	       2017
	                                                                                                                                    RM’000   RM’000

Sale of goods	                                                                                                     90,014    39,350	
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Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
 
5 Other (expenses)/income 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net (4,115) 673  
Interest income 175 69  
Rental income 84 84  
Others 69 7  
    
 (3,787) 833  
    

 
 
6 Finance costs 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Interest expense:    
- finance lease 20 27  
- term loans 284 266  
- banker’s acceptance 180 197  
Bank charges 3 –  
    
 487 490  
    

 
 
7 Profit before tax 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

This is arrived at after charging/(crediting):    
    
Audit fees paid/payable to:     
- auditor of the Company * 156 168  
- other auditors 57 58  
Fees for non-audit services paid/payable to:    
- auditor of the Company * 5 –  
- other auditors 6 11  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 1,090 761  
Write off of property, plant and equipment 13 24  
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (11) –  
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 5 5  
Write down of inventories 15 63  
Rental expenses 542 269  
Initial public offering related expenses – 4,399  
Personnel expenses (Note 8) 10,141 5,745  
    

 
 * In addition to the fees disclosed, the Group paid RM1,107,000 to the auditor of the Company in 

connection with the Company’s initial public offering in financial year ended 31 March 2017. 
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Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
 
8 Personnel expenses 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 Key management personnel 

- Salaries, bonus and other benefits 4,261 1,271  
- Defined contribution plan 117 218  
    
 4,378 1,489  
    
    
Other personnel    
- Salaries, bonus and other benefits 5,206 3,882  
- Defined contribution plan 557 374  
    
 5,763 4,256  
    
 10,141 5,745  
    

 
 
9 Tax expense 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 Income tax: 

- Current year 3,743 1,998  
- Under provision in respect of previous years 106 175  
    

 
3,849 2,173  

    
Deferred tax (Note 15):    
- Current year (76) 218  
- (Over)/Under provision in respect of previous years (47) 51  
    
 (123) 269  
    
 3,726 2,442  
    

 
 The income tax expense on the results of the financial year differs from the amount of income tax 

determined by applying the domestic income tax rates applicable to profit/loss in the countries 
where the Group operates due to the following factors: 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Profit before tax 15,635 4,285  
    
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profit/loss  
 in the countries where the Group operates 2,846 1,018  
Effect of tax incentive (790) (187)  
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,726 1,383  
Non-taxable income (105) (13)  
Under provision of income tax in previous years 106 175  
(Over)/Under provision of deferred taxation in previous years (47) 51  
Others (10) 15  
    
 3,726 2,442  
    



SAMURAI  2K AEROSOL LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 2018 69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32

Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries

9 Tax expense (cont’d)

The above tax reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national 
jurisdiction.

The income tax rate applicable to companies incorporated in Singapore and foreign subsidiaries 
of the Group are 17% (2017:17%) and 16.5% to 25% (2017: 16.5% to 25%) respectively for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2018.

10 Earnings per share

The Company did not hold any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the financial year (2017: 
Nil).

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company is based on the following data:

Group
2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company (RM’000) 11,703 2,221

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (’000) 102,881 100,000*

Earnings per share (RM sen per share)
- Basic and diluted 11.4 2.2

* For comparative purposes, the earnings per share for the financial period ended 31 March 
2017 has been computed based on the Company’s enlarged share capital of 100,000,000 
shares assuming that the group restructuring exercise and the issuance of the 20,000,000 new 
shares pursuant to the IPO had been completed as at 31 March 2017.
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Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries

11 Property, plant and equipment

Furniture,
fittings Plant Capital-

Freehold Freehold and   Motor and Work- 
land Total

RM’000
properties  equipment vehicles machinery        Renovation  in-progress        
RM’000    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000   RM’000  RM’000

Group
2018
Cost
At 1 April 2017 3,510 3,040 344 1,055 4,781 1,183 – 13,913
Additions – 230 148 219 4,376 1,380 67 6,420
Disposals – – – (49) – – – (49)
Write off – – (3) – (50) (48) – (101)
Currency 
translation

differences – – (35) (21) (6) (9)
–

(71)

At 31 March 
2018 3,510 3,270 454 1,204 9,101 2,506 67 20,112

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 April 2017 – 175 146 271 2,166 296 – 3,054
Depreciation 
charge – 68 73 122 674 153

–
1,090

Disposals – – – (35) – – – (35)
Write off – – (2) – (45) (41) – (88)
Currency 
translation

differences – – (18) (4) – (4)
–

(26)

At 31 March 
2018 – 243 199 354 2,795 404 – 3,995

Net carrying 
value
At 31 March 
2018 3,510 3,027 255 850 6,306 2,102 67 16,117

2017
Cost
At 1 April 2016 430 520 314 897 4,687 585 – 7,433
Additions 3,080 2,520 73 152 94 593 – 6,512
Write off – – (66) – – – – (66)
Currency 
translation

differences – – 23 6 – 5
–

34

At 31 March 
2017 3,510 3,040 344 1,055 4,781 1,183

–
13,913

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 April 2016 – 134 112 164 1,690 221 – 2,321
Depreciation 
charge – 41 66 104 476 74

–
761

Write off – – (42) – – – – (42)
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Currency
translation

differences – – 10 3 – 1
–

14

At 31 March 
2017 – 175 146 271 2,166 296

–
3,054

Net carrying 
value
At 31 March 
2017 3,510 2,865 198 784 2,615 887

–
10,859
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Furniture,
fittings Plant Capital-

Freehold Freehold and   Motor and Work- 
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RM’000
properties  equipment vehicles machinery        Renovation  in-progress        
RM’000    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000   RM’000  RM’000

Group
2018
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At 1 April 2017 3,510 3,040 344 1,055 4,781 1,183 – 13,913
Additions – 230 148 219 4,376 1,380 67 6,420
Disposals – – – (49) – – – (49)
Write off – – (3) – (50) (48) – (101)
Currency 
translation

differences – – (35) (21) (6) (9)
–

(71)

At 31 March 
2018 3,510 3,270 454 1,204 9,101 2,506 67 20,112
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At 1 April 2017 – 175 146 271 2,166 296 – 3,054
Depreciation 
charge – 68 73 122 674 153

–
1,090

Disposals – – – (35) – – – (35)
Write off – – (2) – (45) (41) – (88)
Currency 
translation

differences – – (18) (4) – (4)
–

(26)

At 31 March 
2018 – 243 199 354 2,795 404 – 3,995

Net carrying 
value
At 31 March 
2018 3,510 3,027 255 850 6,306 2,102 67 16,117

2017
Cost
At 1 April 2016 430 520 314 897 4,687 585 – 7,433
Additions 3,080 2,520 73 152 94 593 – 6,512
Write off – – (66) – – – – (66)
Currency 
translation

differences – – 23 6 – 5
–

34

At 31 March 
2017 3,510 3,040 344 1,055 4,781 1,183
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13,913

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 April 2016 – 134 112 164 1,690 221 – 2,321
Depreciation 
charge – 41 66 104 476 74

–
761

Write off – – (42) – – – – (42)
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Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
 
11 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 
 Assets held under finance leases 
 

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 
RM6,420,000 (2017: RM6,512,000) of which RM Nil (2017: RM100,000) was acquired by means of finance 
lease and RM254,000 (2017: RM560,000) was paid and recorded as other receivables as at 31 March 2017 
(2017: 31 March 2016). Cash payments of RM6,166,000 (2017: RM5,852,000) were made to purchase 
property, plant and equipment of which RM Nil (2017: RM4,563,000) was financed by proceeds from 
borrowings. 

 
 The carrying amount of plant and machinery and motor vehicles held under finance leases at the end of the 

reporting period were RM1,342,000 (2017: RM1,556,000). 
 
 Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities. 
 
 Assets pledged as security 
 
 In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s freehold land and properties with a carrying 

amount of RM6,537,000 (2017: RM6,375,000) are pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings (Note 18). 
 
 
12 Intangible assets 
  Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Cost    
At 1 April 376 376  
Additions 155 –  
    
At 31 March 531 376  
    
    
Amortisation    
At 1 April 358 353  
Amortisation charge 5 5  
    
At 31 March 363 358  
    
Net carrying value 168 18  
    

 
 
13 Investment in subsidiaries  
  Company 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Unquoted shares, at cost    
Balance at beginning of financial year 12,850 –  
Strike off of subsidiary (853) –  
Issuance of shares for acquisition of subsidiaries pursuant to the 
  Restructuring Exercise 

 
– 12,407 

 

Investment in a new subsidiary – 443  
    
 11,998 12,850  
Less: Allowance for impairment loss (1,546) (200)  
    
Balance at end of financial year 10,451 12,650  
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11 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 
 Assets held under finance leases 
 

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 
RM6,420,000 (2017: RM6,512,000) of which RM Nil (2017: RM100,000) was acquired by means of finance 
lease and RM254,000 (2017: RM560,000) was paid and recorded as other receivables as at 31 March 2017 
(2017: 31 March 2016). Cash payments of RM6,166,000 (2017: RM5,852,000) were made to purchase 
property, plant and equipment of which RM Nil (2017: RM4,563,000) was financed by proceeds from 
borrowings. 

 
 The carrying amount of plant and machinery and motor vehicles held under finance leases at the end of the 

reporting period were RM1,342,000 (2017: RM1,556,000). 
 
 Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities. 
 
 Assets pledged as security 
 
 In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s freehold land and properties with a carrying 

amount of RM6,537,000 (2017: RM6,375,000) are pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings (Note 18). 
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11 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
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13 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 
  Company 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Allowance for impairment loss    
Balance at beginning of financial year 200 –  
Additions  1,346 200  
    
Balance at end of financial year 1,546 200  
    

 
 (i) Details of the subsidiaries are: 

 
 
Name of subsidiary 

Principal 
place of 
business 

Principal 
business 
activities 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest 
   2018 

% 
2017 

% 
Held by the Company     
     
Orientus Industry Sdn Bhd (1) Malaysia Processing and 

trading of paints 
100 100 

     
Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd (1) Malaysia Dormant 100 100 
     
PT Samurai Paint (1) Indonesia Import trading and 

distribution 
67 67 

     
Supreme Wish Holdings Limited (2)  Hong Kong Dormant – 100 
     
Samurai 2K USA Inc (3) United 

States of 
America 

Import aerosol 
paint products and 
wholesales 

100 100 

 (1) Audited by independent overseas member firms of Baker Tilly International. 
 
 (2) Deregistered from the Companies Registry of Hong Kong during the financial year. 
 
 (3) Not required to be audited for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 by law of country 

of incorporation.  
 
 (ii) At the end of the reporting period, there are no subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that 

are considered by management to be material to the Group. Accordingly, the summarised 
financial information of the subsidiaries is not being disclosed. 

 
 (iii) During the financial year, the management performed the impairment tests for the 

investment in PT Samurai Paint and Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd (2017: Creative Paint 
Marketing Sdn Bhd). Total impairment loss of RM1,346,000 (2017: RM200,000) was 
recognised for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 to write down PT Samurai Paint and 
Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd (2017: Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd) to their 
respective recoverable amount of RM328,000 and RM Nil (2017: RM929,000). 

 
  The recoverable amount of the investment in PT Samurai Paint has been determined based 

on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from forecasts approved by 
management covering a five-year period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow 
projection and the forecasted growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond 
the five year period are 19.7% (2017: 19.5%) and 0% (2017: 0%) respectively.  

 
  The Group is in the process of striking off Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd. The 

recoverable amount of the investment in Creative Paint Marketing Sdn Bhd is RM Nil (2017: 
RM929,000) subsequent to a dividend declaration and allowance for impairment loss was 
fully made during the financial year. 



SAMURAI  2K AEROSOL LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 201874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 

Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
 
14 Trade and other receivables 
 
 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Trade receivables  25,147 2,887 – –  
Advance payment to suppliers 1,282 149 – –  
Amount due from subsidiaries – – 19,906 8  
Deposits 201 62 – –  
Other receivables 1,860 580 – 55  
Prepayments 1,160 1,171 264 279  
Tax recoverable 275 339 – –  
      

 
29,925 5,188 20,170 342  

      
Non-current      
Deposit for purchase of property, 
plant and equipment and rental – 261 

 
– –  

      
 

 Amount due from subsidiaries is interest-free, non-trade in nature, unsecured and payable on 
demand. 

 
 
15 Deferred tax 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the 
same fiscal authority. 

 
The movements in the deferred tax accounts are as follows: 

 
 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

At 1 April 546 277 – –  
Tax charge to statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive 
income (Note 9) (123) 269 

 
 

– – 

 

Currency translation difference (14) – –   
      
At 31 March 409 546 – –  
      
      
Representing:      
Deferred tax assets (74) (45) – –  
Deferred tax liabilities 483 591 – –  
      
 409 546 – –  
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15 Deferred tax (cont’d)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and the 
movements thereon during the current and prior financial year:

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Other Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 April 2016 264 13 277
Tax charge to profit or loss 282 (13) 269

At 31 March 2017 546 – 546
Tax charge to profit or loss (123) – (123)
Currency translation difference (14) – (14)

At 31 March 2018 409 – 409

16 Inventories
Group

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000

Raw materials 2,764 1,325
Packaging materials 3,469 1,719
Finished goods 2,030 3,344

8,263 6,388

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales amounted to RM51,341,000 
(2017: RM21,585,000) included an amount of RM15,000 (2017: RM63,000) in respect of write 
down of inventories to net realisable value.

17 Cash and bank balances
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash in hand and at bank 34,068 18,739 28,454 8,576
Bank deposits 5,222 1,183 – –

Cash and bank balances 39,290 19,922 28,454 8,576

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 
the end of the reporting period:

Group
2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Cash and bank balances 39,290 19,922
Less: pledged bank deposits (1,222) (1,183)

Cash and cash equivalents 38,068 18,739

Bank deposits amounting to RM1,222,000 (2017: RM1,183,000) are pledged to banks as 
collateral for banking facilities granted (Note 18). Fixed deposits bear interest rates ranging from 
3.10% to 4.15% (2017: 3.15% to 3.45%) per annum.
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18 Borrowings 
 Group 
  2018 2017 
 Repayment period  RM’000 RM’000 

Non-current     
Loan 1 - 1.5% per annum below bank 
    Base Lend Rate (“BLR”) 

117 monthly instalments 
from August 2009 – 110  

     

Loan 2 - 12.5% per annum 
60 monthly instalments 
from September 2014 – 258  

     

Loan 3 - 1.2% per annum above BLR 
36 monthy instalments 
from April 2016 30 275  

     

Loan 4 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
180 monthly instalments 
from August 2016 1,940 2,050  

     

Loan 5 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
180 monthly instalments 
from August 2016 1,940 2,050  

     

Loan 6 - 0.5% per annum above BLR 
180 monthly instalments 
from August 2016 76 78  

     
Obligations under finance lease  192 307  
     

  4,178 5,128  
     

 
  2018 2017 
 Repayment period  RM’000 RM’000 

Current     
Loan 1 - 1.5% per annum below bank 
   Base Lend Rate (“BLR”) 

117 monthly instalments 
from August 2009 – 84  

     

Loan 2 - 12.5% per annum 
60 monthly instalments 
from September 2014 – 157  

     

Loan 3 - 1.2% per annum above BLR 
36 monthly instalments 
from April 2016 245 229  

     

Loan 4 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
180 monthly instalments  
from August 2016 117 111  

     

Loan 5 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
180 monthly instalments 
from August 2016 117 111  

     

Loan 6 - 0.5% per annum above BLR 
180 monthly instalments  
from August 2016 3 3  

     
Banker’s acceptance - 1.25% to 1.5% 
  per annum 

 
3,033 3,843  

     
Obligations under finance lease  116 130  
     
  3,631 4,668  
     
  7,809 9,796  
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18 Borrowings (cont’d) 
 
 The loans and banker’s acceptance are secured by: 
 

(i) Fixed deposits placed with the bank (Note 17); 
(ii) Freehold land and properties of the Group (Note 11); 
(iii) Joint and several guarantee from certain directors of the Group; 
(iv) A business loan reducing term assurance covered for the joint life of the guarantors. 

 
 Determination of fair value of borrowings 
 
 The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair value at the end of the reporting 

period. 
 

The fair values of the borrowings, determined from discounted cash flow analysis using the 
market lending rate that the directors expect would be available to the Group at the end of the 
reporting period, are reasonable approximation of carrying amounts as they are floating rate 
instruments that are repriced to market interest rates on or near the end of the reporting period or 
are fixed rate instruments whereby the fixed rates approximate market interest rates on or near 
the end of the reporting period. The fair value measurement for disclosure purposes is 
categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 
 Obligations under finance lease 
 Minimum Present value of  
 lease payments minimum lease payments 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group      
Within 1 financial year 129 150 116 130  
Within 2 to 5 financial years 204 332 192 307  
      
Total minimum lease payments 333 482 308 437  
Less: future finance charges (25) (45) – –  
      
 308 437 308 437  
      

 
 Minimum 
 lease payments 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Representing finance lease liabilities:    
- Current 116 130  
- Non-current 192 307  
    
 308 437  
    

 
The obligations under finance lease bear interest rates ranging from 2.35% to 3.81% (2017: 
2.35% to 3.81%) per annum. 

 
The Group leases certain plant and machinery and motor vehicles from non-related parties under 
hire purchase arrangements. The hire purchase payables of the Group are effectively secured 
over leased plant and machinery and motor vehicles, as the legal title is retained by the lessor 
and will be transferred to the Group upon full settlement of the hire purchase payable. The net 
carrying value of plant and machinery and motor vehicles acquired under hire purchase 
arrangements are disclosed in Note 11. 
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18 Borrowings (cont’d)

Obligations under finance lease (cont’d)

Certain directors of the Group has provided guarantees for certain of the finance lease liabilities.

Based on the discounted cash flows using market interest rates for similar finance lease 
agreements at the end of the reporting period, the fair values of finance lease liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period approximate their carrying amounts as the market interest rates at the end 
of the reporting period are close to the effective interest rates of the Group’s existing finance 
lease liabilities. This fair value measurement for disclosure purposes is categorised in Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy.

Reconciliation movement of liabilities to cash flow arising from financing activities:

Obligations
Bank under finance

borrowings lease Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 April 2017 9,359 437 9,796
Changes from financing cash flows:
- Repayments (1,858) (129) (1,987)
- Interest paid (464) (20) (484)

Non-cash changes:
- Interest expenses 464 20 484

Balance at 31 March 2018 7,501 308 7,809

19 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current
Trade payables
- third parties 15,802 5,593 – –

Other payables
- third parties 305 646 – –
- subsidiaries – – 474 3,046

Accrued expenses 2,736 761 1,971 174

Advances from customers
- third parties – 20 – –

18,843 7,020 2,445 3,220

Non-current 
Other payables 272 176 – –

The amounts due to subsidiaries are interest-free, non-trade in nature, unsecured and payable on 
demand.
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20 Share capital

2018 2017
No. of shares No. of shares

’000 RM’000 ’000 RM’000

Group and Company
At 1 April 100,000 23,287 513 1,336
Issuance of ordinary shares 
pursuant to the Restructuring 
Exercise – – 4,000 12,407

Adjustments pursuant to the 
Restructuring Exercise – – (513) (1,336)

Sub-division of 1 ordinary share 
into 20 ordinary shares – – 76,000 –

Issuance of ordinary shares 
pursuant to the initial public 
offering (“IPO”) – – 20,000 12,407

Issuance of ordinary shares 
pursuant to share placement 9,921 30,258 – –

Capitalisation of share issuance 
expenses – (892) – (1,527)

At 31 March 109,921 52,653 100,000 23,287

All issued shares are fully paid ordinary shares with no par value.

On 15 December 2017, the Company issued 9,921,000 ordinary shares for RM30,258,000 upon 
completion of share placement.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.

21 Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid by the Company and 
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired under common control.
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22 Commitments 
 
 a) Lease commitment 
 
  Where the Group is a lessee 
   
  The Group leases a warehouse from non-related party under non-cancellable operating lease 

agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 
 
  Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the 

reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows: 
 
  Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Not later than one financial year 60 180  
Later than one financial year 
  but not later than five financial years – 60  
    

 
60 240  

    
 
  Where the Group is a lessor 
 
  The Group leases out a warehouse to a non-related party under non-cancellable operating 

leases in prior years. The lease agreement was terminated during the year. 
 
  The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for 

at the reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are as follows: 
 
  Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Not later than one financial year – 144  
Later than one financial year 
  but not later than five financial years – 204  
    

 
– 348  

    
 
 b) Capital commitments 
 
  Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements: 
 
  Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Capital commitments in respect of purchase of     
  property, plant and equipment 170 1,603  
    

 
 c) Banker’s guarantee 
 

At 31 March 2018, banker’s guarantee of RM47,000 (2017: RM30,000) were issued in lieu of 
utilities deposit. 
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23 Financial instruments

a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial instruments at their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 25,365 3,019 19,906 63
Cash and bank balances 39,290 19,922 28,454 8,576

Loans and receivables 64,655 22,941 48,360 8,639

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 18,843 7,000 2,445 3,220
Borrowings 7,809 9,796 – –

At amortised cost 26,652 16,796 2,445 3,220

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial
instruments. The key financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below. The
directors review and agree policies and procedures for the management of these risks.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in
which the Group manages and measures financial risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has currency exposures arising from transactions, assets and liabilities that are
denominated in currencies other than their respective functional currencies of entities in the
Group. The foreign currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the United States Dollar
(“USD”), British Pound (“GBP”) Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”) and Singapore dollar (“SGD”).

There is no formal hedging policy with respect to foreign currency exposure. Exposure to
foreign currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group endeavours to keep the
net exposure at a level that is deemed acceptable by management.
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23 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d) 
 
  Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 
 
  At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have the following financial 

assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies based on information 
provided to key management:  

 
 USD GBP IDR SGD 
 Group  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 2018     
 Financial assets     
 Trade and other receivables 2,078 – 22,417 3,408 
 Cash and bank balances 1,290 397 298 28,612 
      
  3,368 397 22,715 32,020 
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables 4,223 – 851 – 
      

 
Net financial (liabilities)/assets 

denominated in foreign currencies (855) 397 21,864 32,020 
      
 2017     
 Financial assets     
 Trade and other receivables 6,176 – 168 450 
 Cash and bank balances 1,431 384 – 8,776 
      
  7,607 384 168 9,226 
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables 7,378 – 597 315 
      

 
Net financial assets/(liabilities) 

denominated in foreign currencies 229 384 (429) 8,911 
      
      
 Company     
 2018     
 Financial assets     
 Trade and other receivables 2,022 – – 3,408 
 Cash and bank balances 4 – – 28,450 
      
  2,026 – – 31,858 
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables – – 474 – 
      

 
Net financial assets/(liabilities) 

denominated in foreign currencies 2,026 – (474) 31,858 
      
 2017     
 Financial assets     
 Trade and other receivables – – – 309 
 Cash and bank balances – – – 8,577 
      
  – – – 8,886 
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables 802 – 596 315 
      

 
Net financial (liabilities)/assets 
denominated in foreign currencies (802) – (596) 8,571 
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23 Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Group 
Increase/(decrease) 

in profit after tax 
2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000
SGD/RM 
- strengthened 10% (2017: 10%) 2,657 739
- weakened 10% (2017: 10%) (2,657) (739) 

IDR/RM 
- strengthened 10% (2017: 10%) 1,741 (36) 
- weakened 10% (2017: 10%) (1,741) 36 

Company

If the SGD exchange rate against RM strengthened/weakened by 10%, with all other 
variables held constant, the Company’s profit after tax will be higher/lower by RM2,644,000
(2017: RM711,000).

The sensitivity analysis for the other foreign currencies is not disclosed as the impact on the 
Group’s and the Company’s profit after taxation is not significant. 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their borrowings and deposits 
placed with the financial institutions at variable rates. Borrowings at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk (i.e. the risk that the future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates). The Group and the 
Company do not utilise derivatives to mitigate its interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates 
for borrowings at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the 
beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case 
of borrowings that have floating rates.

The Group’s borrowings at variable rates on which effective hedges have not been entered 
into, are denominated mainly in RM. If the RM interest rates increase/decrease by 50 (2017: 
50) basis points with all other variables including tax rate being held constant, the profit after
tax of the Group will be higher/lower by RM32,000 (2017: RM41,000) as a result of 
higher/lower interest expense on these borrowings.

Foreign currency risk (cont'd)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the IDR,
and SGD exchange rates against the respective function currencies of the Group's entities,
with all other variables held constant, of the Gruop's profit after tax:
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23 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d) 
 
  Credit risk 
 
  Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has credit policies in place and the 
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis by the management.  

 
  As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s trade receivables are all due from debtors 

located in Malaysia and Indonesia. The Group’s trade receivables comprise 1 debtor (2017: 1 
debtor) that represented approximately 74% (2017: 27%) of the trade receivables. 

 
  As the Group and the Company does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit 

risk is the carrying amount of each class of financial instruments presented on the statements 
of financial position.  

 
  Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
  Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are credit worthy 

customers with good payment records with the Group. Cash and bank balances are placed 
with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default. 

 
  Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired 
 
  There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade 

receivables. 
 
  The age analysis of trade receivables of the Group that are past due but not impaired are as 

follows: 
  Group 
 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Past due 1 to 30 days 539 509  
Past due 31 to 60 days 50 215  
Past due 61 to 90 days 20 229  
Past due over 90 days 4 66  
    
 613 1,019  
    

 
 Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to 
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and 
liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. The Group and 
the Company manage the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash to enable them to meet 
their normal operating commitments and having an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities (Note 18). 
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23 Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The table below shows the contractual expiry by the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Repayable
on demand Within

or within 2 to 5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Group
2018
Trade and other payables 18,843 – – 18,843
Borrowings 3,847 1,937 3,443 9,227

22,690 1,937 3,443 28,070

2017
Trade and other payables 7,000 – – 7,000
Borrowings 4,969 2,724 3,864 11,557

11,969 2,724 3,864 18,557

Company
2018
Trade and other payables 2,445 – – 2,445

2017
Trade and other payables 3,220 – – 3,220

24 Fair values of assets and liabilities

Fair value hierarchy

The tables below analyse the fair value measurements by the levels in the fair value hierarchy 
based on the inputs to the valuation techniques. The different levels are defined as follows:

(i) Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
(ii) Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
(iii) Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs). 

There has been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial years 
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair 
values as they are short-term in nature, market interest rate instruments, or fixed rate 
instruments whereby the fixed rates approximate market interest rates on or near the end of the 
reporting period. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group does not have any financial instruments carried at 
fair value. 
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25 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholders’ 
value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued 
shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of equity and borrowings and the Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from financial years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018. 

The Group is in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years 
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018.

26 Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products, and 
have three operating segments as follows:

(a) The paint - standard segment includes standard colour aerosol spray paint products.
(b) The paint - premium segment includes fluorescent, candy and metallic colour aerosol spray 

paint products, high temperature aerosol spray paint products, primer products, epoxy 
products, 2K products and multi-colour one aerosol spray paint.

(c) The maintenance and others segment includes cosmetic products such as metal and paint 
polish and maintenance products such as engine degreaser, chain oil, carburetor and gasket 
cleaner. 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for making decisions 
about allocation of resources and assessment of performances for each segment.
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 The segment information provided to management for the reportable segments are as follows: 
 

 
Paint - 

Standard 
Paint - 

Premium 
Maintenance 
and others Group 

 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  
      
31 March 2018      
Segment revenue      
Sales to external customers  53,448 35,094 1,472 90,014  
      
      
Segment profit 7,124 8,531 292 15,947  
      
      
Other segment information      
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 720 349 21 1,090  
      
      
Segment assets 52,411 34,413 1,442 88,266  
Unallocated assets      
- Deferred tax assets    74  
- Fixed deposits    5,222  
- Tax recoverable    275  
      
Total assets    93,837  
      
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to non-current assets 3,904 2,563 108 6,575  
      
      
Segment liabilities 11,351 7,453 311 19,115  
Unallocated liabilities      
- Deferred tax liabilities    483  
- Borrowings    7,809  
- Tax payable    522  
      
Total liabilities    27,929  
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 

 
Paint - 

Standard 
Paint - 

Premium 
Maintenance 
and others Group 

 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  
      
31 March 2017      
Segment revenue      
Sales to external customers  23,819 14,379 1,152 39,350  
      
      
Segment profit 1,552 2,986 168 4,706  
      
      
Other segment information      
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 513 232 16 761  
      
      
Segment assets 24,887 15,023 1,204 41,114  
Unallocated assets      
- Deferred tax assets    45  
- Fixed deposits    1,183  
- Tax recoverable    339  
      
Total assets    42,681  
      
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to non-current assets 3,696 2,231 179 6,106  
      
      
Segment liabilities 4,355 2,630 211 7,196  
Unallocated liabilities      
- Deferred tax liabilities    591  
- Borrowings    9,796  
- Tax payable    319  
      
Total liabilities    17,902  
      

 
 Segment results 
 
 Performance of each segment is evaluated based on segment profit or loss which is measured 

differently from the net profit or loss before tax in the consolidated financial statements. Interest 
income and finance costs are not allocated to segments as Group financing is managed on a 
group basis. 

 
A reconciliation of segment profit to the consolidated profit before tax is as follows: 

 
  2018 2017 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 

Segment profit  15,947 4,706  
Interest income  175 69  
Finance costs   (487) (490)  
     
Profit before tax   15,635 4,285  
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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27 Subsequent event 
 
 On 4 June 2018, the Board of Directors has proposed a first and final exempt dividend for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2018 of SGD0.006 per share amounting to a total of SGD659,526 (equivalent to 
RM1,957,370). These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, which will be accounted for 
in the shareholder’s equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 31 March 2019. 

 
 
28 Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated _______. 51 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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27 Subsequent event 
 
 On 4 June 2018, the Board of Directors has proposed a first and final exempt dividend for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2018 of SGD0.006 per share amounting to a total of SGD659,526 (equivalent to 
RM1,957,370). These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, which will be accounted for 
in the shareholder’s equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 31 March 2019. 

 
 
28 Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated _______. 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 
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26 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 

with that of the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment for the purposes of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between 
segments. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred income tax assets, tax 
recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 

that of the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on 
the operations of the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings. These 
liabilities are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 24,514 18,036 15,948 10,714 
Indonesia 57,858 17,883 212 163 
Others 7,642 3,431 125 – 
     
 90,014 39,350 16,285 10,877 
     

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated 

statements of financial position excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2017: 1) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 

which are attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as 
detailed below: 

 
  Group 
   2018 2017 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1   42,065 – 
Customer 2   9,016 – 
Customer 3   – 5,304 

 

26 June 2018.
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NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES                    :	 109,921,000
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL	       :	 S$18,000,368
CLASS OF SHARES	                                  :	 Ordinary Shares
TREASURY SHARES	                                  :	 Nil
SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS	                     : 	 Nil
VOTING RIGHTS	                                  :     1 vote for each Ordinary Share held
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 13 JUNE 2018 
 
SIZE OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS 

NO. OF 
SHAREHOLDERS 

% NO. OF 
SHARES 

% 

1 – 99  0  0.00  0  0.00 
100 – 1,000  16  7.18  9,400  0.01 
1,001 – 10,000  62  27.80  318,800  0.29 
10,001 – 1,000,000  131  58.74  15,707,600  14.29 
1,000,001 AND ABOVE  14  6.28  93,885,200  85.41 
TOTAL  223 100.00  109,921,000 100.00 

 
 
TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 13 JUNE 2018 
 
NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES % 
1 ONG YOKE EN  50,384,000  45.84 
2 LIM LAY YONG  15,000,000  13.65 
3 DATO’ CHANG CHOR CHOONG  4,250,000  3.87 
4 DATO’ LOH SHIN SIONG  4,250,000  3.87 
5 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED  3,268,200  2.97 
6 KONG HEE SIONG  2,752,700  2.50 
7 CHAI FOOK CHOY  2,638,100  2.40 
8 ONG YICK SING  2,448,000  2.23 
9 PANG HANG HIN  2,004,800  1.82 
10 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD  1,803,300  1.64 
11 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. 

LTD. 
 1,340,600  1.22 

12 ONG HOW EN  1,308,000  1.19 
13 ONG YOKE HOI  1,308,000  1.19 
14 RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.  1,129,500  1.03 
15 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE 

LTD 
 992,000  0.90 

16 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED  710,700  0.65 
17 RICHARD TAN LIM OR GRACE UY LIM  556,000  0.51 
18 HUON CHEK SENG  496,000  0.45 
19 NG CHOOI PEI  496,000  0.45 
20 PANG KONG HONG  496,000  0.45 
 TOTAL  97,631,900  88.83 
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 13 JUNE 2018

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information provided and to the best knowledge of the Directors, approximately 30.40% of the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company are held in the hands of the 
public as at 13 June 2018. Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules has therefore been complied with.

Substantial Shareholder Shareholdings 
registered in the name 

of the substantial 
shareholder

Shareholdings in 
which the substantial 

shareholder are 
deemed to be 

interested

Total Percentage of 
issued shares

ONG YOKE EN 50,384,000 - 50,384,000 45.84
LIM LAY YONG 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 13.65



SAMURAI  2K AEROSOL LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 201892

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited the “Company”) 
will be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec 
City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 10.00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting the following businesses:

As Ordinary Business:

1.    To receive and adopt the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 together with the Directors’ Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report 
thereon. 

	 (Resolution 1)

2.   To declare a first and final (one-tier tax exempt) dividend of SGD 0.6 cents per share for the financial year ended 31 
March 2018.

	 (Resolution 2)

3.   To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to the Company’s Constitution:
	

Mr Hau Hock Khun	      (Regulation 98) (See Explanatory Note 1)
(Resolution 3)

Mr Sia Yeak Hong	      (Regulation 98) (See Explanatory Note 2)
(Resolution 4)

            
4.  To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 March 2019, to be paid    

quarterly in arrears.
		  (Resolution 5)

5.   To re-appoint Baker Tilly TFW LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remunera-
tion.

		  (Resolution 6)

6.   To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

As Special Business:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

7.   GENERAL MANDATE TO ALLOT AND ISSUE NEW SHARES IN THE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 

That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) and Rule 806 
of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
(“Catalist Rules”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company (“Directors”) to:

(A)     (i)   allot and issue shares in the Company (“Shares”) (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise); and/or

       (ii)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to 
be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, 
debentures or other instruments convertible or exchangeable into Shares, 

        
         at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may 

in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares in pursu-
ance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force, provided that:

(i)   the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in 
pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed one hundred 
per cent (100%) of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital 
of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number 
of Shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to the existing  shareholders of the Company (including 
Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 
fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) 
in the capital of the Company (as at the time of passing of this Resolution);

    

(B)
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                 (ii)    (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate 
number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above on a pro-rata basis, the percentage of the 
total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings in the capital of the Company 
shall be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a)   new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities;

      (b)  new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 
subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were granted in 
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and

          (c)   any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

       (iii)  in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 
Catalist Rules as amended from time to time (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all 
applicable legal requirements under the Act and the Constitution for the time being of the Company; and

        (iv)   unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general 
meeting is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”

          (See Explanatory Note 3)
	 (Resolution 7)

8.   AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue from time to time such number of 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of awards granted 
or to be granted under the Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”), provided that the aggregate number of ordinary shares 
to be issued pursuant to the Plan and any other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed fifteen 
percent (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings of the Company 
from time to time, as determined in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.
(See Explanatory Note 4)

	 (Resolution 8) 

9.   AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to off er and grant options from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), and, pursuant to Section 161 of 
the Act, to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to 
be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of shares 
to be issued pursuant to the Scheme and any other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed 
fifteen percent (15%) of the issued share capital of the Company excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings of 
the Company from time to time, as determined in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. 
(See Explanatory Note 5)
	 (Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Ong Yoke En
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Singapore, 10 July 2018 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Explanatory Notes:

1.  Mr Hau Hock Khun, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit and Nominating Committees. Mr Hau Hock Khun is an Independent Director of 
the Company. The Board considers Mr Hau Hock Khun to be independent pursuant to Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

2.  Mr Sia Yeak Hong, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee and a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees. Mr Sia Yeak Hong is an Independent Director of 
the Company. The Board considers Mr Sia Yeak Hong to be independent pursuant to Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

 
3.   The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of this AGM until 

the date of the next AGM or the date by which the next AGM is required by law to be held or such authority is revoked or 
varied by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to allot and issue Shares and/or convertible securities 
in the Company. The aggregate number of Shares and/or convertible securities which the Directors may allot and issue 
under this Resolution shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the total issued Shares excluding treasury shares 
and subsidiary holdings of which the aggregate number of Shares and/or convertible securities to be issued other than 
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total issued 
Shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings at the time of passing of this Resolution.

4.   The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 8 above, is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares upon the 
vesting of awards under the Plan.

5.   The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 9 above, is to authorise the Directors to offer and grant options under the 
Scheme and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the exercise of such options under the Scheme.

Notes:

(i)   A member who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Act) is entitled to appoint not more than 
two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the AGM. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, 
he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shares to be represented by each such proxy, failing which the nomination 
shall be deemed to be alternative. 

(ii)  A member who is a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Act) is entitled to appoint more than two 
proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a  
different share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the 
number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy. 
“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Act. 

(iii)  A member of the Company, which is a corporation, is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote on 
its behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

(iv) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited together with the power of attorney (if any) under which 
it is signed or a notarially certified or officecopy thereof at the Company’s Share Registrar in Singapore, Boardroom 
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd, either by hand at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower Singapore 
048623 or by post at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623, not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time appointed for the AGM in accordance with the instruction stated herein.

Personal Data Privacy 
By submitting a proxy form appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/
or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its 
agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), 
and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect 
of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.



SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED
Company No. 201606168C 
(Incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM 
(Please see notes overleaf before 
completing this Form)

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ of __________________________________________________ (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us 
on *my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore 
Convention & Exhibition Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 
039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/
proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific 
direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as 
*he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof. All resolutions put to 
vote at the AGM shall be decided by poll.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box 
provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 together with the 
Directors’ Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. To approve the payment of first and final (one-tier tax exempt) dividend of  S$0.6 
cents per share for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

3. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
4. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
5. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year 

ending 31 March 2019 to be paid quarterly in arrears
6. Re-appointment of Baker Tilly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to 

authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
7. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, 

Cap 50
8. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
9. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy the Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the 
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them. Such CPF investors should contact their respective agent banks if they 
have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, _______________________________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport 
No.________________________ 

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our 
behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition 
Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 
11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any 
adjournment thereof.
(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate a cross [X] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Hau Hock Khun as a Director of the Company
3. Re-election of Mr Sia Yeak Hong as a Director of the Company
4. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM222,664 for the financial year ending 31 

March 2018 to be paid quarterly in arrears
5. Re-appointment of Baker Til ly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
6. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50
7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan
8. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme

Dated this ________ day of 2018
Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

 
PROXY FORM 

 

  

 
SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 
(Company Registration Number 201606168C) 
 
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING 
 
PROXY FORM 
 
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form) 

 
 

*I/We ______________________________________________________________________ (Name) 
 
______________________________________________ (NRIC/Passport/Company Registration No.) 
 
of ______________________________________________________________________ (Address) 
being a *member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint: 
 

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number 

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%) 

 
 

   

 
and/or  (delete as appropriate) 
 

Name Address NRIC / Passport 
Number 

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%) 

 
 

   

 
or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for 
*me/us on *my/our behalf, at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) of the Company to be held 
at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Meeting Room 323, Level 3, 1 Raffles 
Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 11.00 a.m., or 
immediately after the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 10.00 
a.m. on the same day and at the same place, and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our 
*proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be proposed at the EGM as indicated hereunder. 
If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at 
*his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the EGM and at any 
adjournment thereof. The resolution put to vote at the EGM shall be decided by poll. 
 
No. Ordinary Resolution For Against 

1. To approve the proposed adoption of Share Purchase Mandate   
 
(Please indicate with a cross [X] in the space provided whether you wish your vote to be cast for or against the Resolution.)  
 
 
Dated this ________ day of ________________ 2018  
 
 
 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal 
 
 
 

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF 

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares 

(a) CDP Register  

(b) Register of Members  

IMPORTANT 
1. For investors who have used their CPF/SRS moneys to buy the 

Company’s shares, this Circular is forwarded to them at the request 
of their CPF/SRS Approved Nominees and is sent FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY. 

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF/SRS investors and 
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them. Such CPF/SRS investors should contact their 
respective agent banks if they have any queries regarding their 
appointment as proxies.  

 

 
NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING 
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Hongkong Street, Holly Building, Singapore 059675, not less than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for the 
holding of the EGM. 

 
 
Personal data privacy: 
 
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the EGM and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal 
data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of 
proxies and representatives appointed for the EGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of 
the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the EGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the 
Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the 
“Purposes”), and (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.  



Notes:

1.       Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name 
in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, this 
Proxy Form shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.        Unless otherwise permitted under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”), a member of the Company entitled to 
attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company.

3.      A member who is a relevant intermediary (as defined in the Companies Act) may appoint more than two proxies, but each proxy must be 
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member.

4.     Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless the member specifies the proportion of his/her 
shareholding to be represented by each proxy in this Proxy Form. 

5.         This Proxy Form (together with the power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a certified copy thereof) must be deposited at the office 
of the Company’s Share Registrar in Singapore, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd, either by hand at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 
Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623 or by post at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623 not less than 48 
hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

6.        This Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where this Proxy Form is executed by a 
corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

7.       Where this Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must 
(failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with this Proxy Form, failing which this Proxy Form shall be treated as invalid.

8.        A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body, such person as it thinks fit to act as its 
representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

9.       The Company shall be entitled to reject a proxy form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the 
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the proxy form. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in 
the Depository Register, the Company may reject a proxy form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against 
his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) 
Limited to the Company.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, 
a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the 
purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), and (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the 
member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach 
of warranty.



Red cap

Hardener
(PU / Epoxy)

 
Resin with pigment
(Solvent / Water-based)

Inner Sleeve
with mandrel & suction pipe

Glass agitator

Nozzle can be 
rotated vertically 
or horizontally

Plastic round cap

Shake to mix Part A & Part B well 
for 2 minutes.

Change the red cap with nozzle 
to start spraying. 

After pressed, the inner sleeve will
be puntured and hardener inside will 

�ow out to mix with resin in the 
can body.   

1 . Press the red cap until produces 
‘pop’ sound from within.

2 .

3 .



SAMURAI is not only selling paint, but more importantly we introduce a living lifestyle that 
is more unique, creative and enjoyable

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED
(Incorporated in Singapore on 9 March 2016)

(Company Registration No.201606168C)

36A Hongkong Street Holy Building
Singapore 059675
Tel: +65 6273 2711
Fax: +65 6273 0592

www.samurai2kaerosol.com


